

# Guidelines for Surgical Endodontics

# Glynis E Evans BDS FDS MSc MRD DGDP

Specialist in Endodontics, Ashley House Specialist Dental Group, 104 Brighton Road, Banstead, Surrey SM7 1BU. Part-time Clinical Lecturer in Endodontology, UCL Eastman Dental Institute, 256 Gray's Inn Road, London WC1X 8LD.

# Karl Bishop MScD DRD MRD FDSRCS FDS(Rest Dent) RCS LLM

Chair, Clinical Standards Committee Faculty of Dental Surgery, RCS (England). Consultant in Restorative Dentistry/Specialist in Endodontics, ABMU LHB, Morriston Hospital, Swansea SA6 6NL.

# Tara Renton BDS MDSc PhD FDS RCS FRACDS(OMS) MHEA

Chair/Academic Lead Oral Surgery, Kings College London. Honorary Consultant, Kings College Hospital London, Department Oral Surgery, Bessemer Road, London SEI 9RT.



# Contents

| Introduction                                 |   |
|--|---|
| Indications for surgical endodontics         | 2 |
| Contraindications to surgical endodontics    | 2 |
| Clinical assessment                          | 3 |
| Extraoral examination                        | 3 |
| Intraoral examination                        | 3 |
| Radiological assessment                      | 3 |
| Diagnosis                                    | 3 |
| Treatment planning                           | 3 |
| Referral                                     | 3 |
| Clinical management                          | 3 |
| Pre-operative medication                     | 3 |
| Anaesthesia                                  | 4 |
| Magnification                                | 4 |
| Soft tissue management                       | 4 |
| Hard tissue management                       | 4 |
| Osteotomy                                    | 4 |
| Periradicular curettage                      | 4 |
| Root-end resection                           | 4 |
| Root-end preparation                         | 5 |
| Root-end filling                             | 5 |
| Closure of the surgical site                 | 5 |
| Post-surgical considerations                 | 5 |
| Post-operative pain                          | 5 |
| Haemorrhage                                  | 5 |
| Post-operative swelling                      | 5 |
| Ecchymosis                                   | 6 |
| Infection                                    | 6 |
| Outcomes of surgical endodontic intervention |   |
| Successful outcome                           | 6 |
| Clinical                                     | 6 |
| Radiological                                 | 6 |
| Incomplete outcome                           | 6 |
| Clinical                                     | 6 |
| Radiological                                 | 6 |
| Uncertain outcome                            | 6 |
| Clinical                                     | 6 |
| Radiological                                 |   |
| Unsuccessful outcome                         |   |
| Clinical                                     |   |
| Radiological                                 | 7 |
| Acknowledgements                             |   |
| References                                   | 7 |

# Introduction

The aetiology of periapical (periradicular) periodontitis is microbial:<sup>1-3</sup> intra-radicular microorganisms induce an inflammatory and immune response within the periradicular tissues, resulting in bone destruction. Contamination of the periradicular tissues by microorganisms and root-filling materials may compromise healing.<sup>4</sup>

The aim of endodontic treatment is to disinfect the pulp space(reducing the microbial load and removing necrotic tissue) followed by sealing this space to prevent recontamination. Success rates of 47–97% for primary orthograde root canal treatment have been reported,<sup>5</sup> with failures more likely to be associated with pre-operative presence of periapical radiolucency, root fillings with voids, root fillings more than 2mm short of the radiographic apex, and unsatisfactory coronal restoration.<sup>6</sup>

Options for the management of these failures can be non-surgical root canal retreatment or surgical endodontics.<sup>7</sup> Non-surgical retreatment may provide a better opportunity to clean the pulp space than a surgical approach.<sup>8</sup> However there are clinical situations when non-surgical root canal retreatment is inappropriate.

A wide range of success rates for surgical endodontics has been reported (44–95%).<sup>9</sup> Systematic reviews comparing the outcome of non-surgical root canal retreatment and surgical endodontics<sup>10,11</sup> reveal that, to date, there have been only two randomised controlled trials.<sup>8,12</sup> The data from this limited evidence suggests that although surgery may offer a more favourable outcome in the short term, non-surgical retreatment offers a more favourable long-term outcome.<sup>10,11</sup>

There have been a number of studies evaluating contemporary microsurgical techniques and more biocompatible filling materials,<sup>13–15</sup> which report more consistent success in healing outcomes (88–96%).

In order to attain a successful outcome, an accurate diagnosis of the aetiology of persistent pathology associated with a root-treated tooth and appropriate treatment planning is, of course, essential. In these guidelines, surgical endodontics describes a procedure combining root-end resection, apical curettage and root-end filling. Other procedures such as apical curettage or root resection alone, hemisection, intentional replantation, and regenerative procedures, have not been included.

# Indications for surgical endodontics<sup>16</sup>

- 1. Periradicular disease associated with a tooth where iatrogenic or developmental anomalies prevent non-surgical root canal treatment being undertaken.
- 2. Periradicular disease in a root-filled tooth where non-surgical root canal retreatment cannot be undertaken or has failed, or when it may be detrimental to the retention of the tooth (eg obliterated root canals, teeth with full coverage restorations where conventional access may jeopardise the underlying core, the presence of a post whose removal may carry a high risk of root fracture).
- 3. Where a biopsy of periradicular tissue is required.
- 4. Where visualisation of the periradicular tissues and tooth root is required when perforation or root fracture is suspected.
- 5. Where it may not be expedient to undertake prolonged nonsurgical root canal retreatment because of patient considerations.

# Contraindications to surgical endodontics

There are few absolute contraindications to endodontic surgery, however the following should be considered:

- 1. Patient factors, including the presence of severe systemic disease and psychological considerations.
- 2. Dental factors including:
  - unusual bony or root configurations
  - lack of surgical access
  - possible involvement of neurovascular structures
  - where the tooth is subsequently unrestorable
  - wherethere is poor supporting tissue
  - poor general oral status.
- 3. The skill, training, facilities available, and experience of the operator, should also be considered.

# **Clinical assessment**

#### Extraoral examination

A thorough examination should be undertaken, in particular noting:

- regional lymph nodes
- swelling
- mouth opening.

#### Intraoral examination

Should include:

- general status of the mouth
- presence of local infection, swelling and sinus tracts
- presence, quantity and quality of restorations, caries and cracks
- quality of any cast restorations (marginal adaption, aesthetics, history of decementation)
- periodontal status, including the presence of isolated increased probing depths
- occlusal relationship is the tooth a functioning unit or is there potential for function?
- sensibility and percussive testing of the suspected tooth, adjacent teeth and its contra-lateral partner.

#### Radiological assessment

While a long cone parallel periapical view of the teeth and adjacent structures provides a good diagnostic yield, further information (eg root morphology in multi-rooted teeth, or when perforation by a post is suspected) may be gained by taking additional angled (horizontal/vertical) periapical radiographs.

At least 3mm of the tissues beyond the apex of the roots should be radiographically assessed. If a large periradicular lesion is suspected further radiographs such as a dental pantomogram or occlusal views may be required. If a sinus tract is present then a radiograph should be taken with a gutta-percha cone in place to delineate the tract.

Historical radiographs, if available, provide a longitudinal guide to changes in periradicular status.

The high diagnostic yield of cone beam computed tomography has been described by Patel et al<sup>17</sup> with particular reference to assessment of posterior teeth prior to periapical surgery. The use of dental radiographs should, of course, be in accordance with national regulations<sup>18,19</sup> including knowledge of radiation doses.

# Diagnosis

The purpose of careful clinical and radiological evaluation is to provide information about the nature, extent and possible aetiological factors of the disease thus facilitating a differential diagnosis.

# Treatment planning

Following diagnosis and discussion of the treatment options and risks, consent should be obtained.<sup>20–22</sup>

# Referral

Once it has been agreed that surgical endodontics is required, consideration should be given as to the appropriate setting for treatment. This will be determined by the competence and training of the practitioner and support staff, facilities available and the patient's medical history. If appropriate, referral should be to a suitably trained colleague.<sup>21</sup>

The referring clinician should provide information as to the clinical findings on presentation, medical and dental history and forward any radiographs relevant to the case. An indication of any proposed restorative treatment of the tooth should be given.

The dentist to whom the referral has been made should only provide the treatment requested where this is felt to be appropriate. If this is not the case, there is an obligation on the dentist to discuss the matter, prior to commencing treatment, with the referring practitioner and the patient.<sup>20–22</sup>

#### Clinical management

#### Pre-operative medication

Recent systematic reviews indicate that prophylactic administration of oral antimicrobials to prevent systematic disease is not always in the patient's best interest.<sup>23</sup>

Likewise, prophylactic administration to prevent postoperative infection (in patients not requiring prophylactic antibiotics for medical conditions) has not been shown to be beneficial.<sup>24</sup> The use of chlorhexidine mouth rinses to reduce plaque formation<sup>25</sup> may be beneficial. Systemic non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug therapy should be considered prior to surgery in order to reduce post-operative pain.<sup>26,27</sup>

# Anaesthesia

Where possible, local anaesthesia should be the method of choice.<sup>28</sup> Haemostasis is of benefit at the surgical site, which is more easily achieved when a local anaesthetic containing a vasoconstrictor is used.<sup>29–31</sup>

## Magnification

The use and benefits of the dental operating microscope in terms of improved visualisation and control of the surgical site is well documented.<sup>32,33</sup> The impact of magnification devices on the outcome of endodontic surgery had not been demonstrated until recently when Setzer *et al* reported a positive effect of magnification and a microsurgical technique on outcome.<sup>34</sup>

#### Soft tissue management

Surgical flap design is variable and depends on a number of factors, including:

- access to and size of the periradicular lesion
- periodontal status (including biotype)
- state of coronal tooth structure
- the nature and extent of coronal restorations
- aesthetics
- adjacent anatomical structures.

Relieving incisions should be placed on sound bone. The lack of predictability in determining the size of the periapical lesion, combined with increased incidence of scarring associated with a semilunar flap, precludes its use in endodontic surgery.<sup>35</sup>

It is not desirable to remove bleeding tags of tissue from the exposed bone or periodontal ligament fibres that were severed during tissue reflection as they will facilitate healing.<sup>36</sup>

The raised flap must be protected from damage and desiccation during surgery and retractors should rest on sound bone.

# Hard tissue management

#### Osteotomy

An assessment of the length of the root and its axis should be made to ensure that bone is removed accurately from the desired site. If the cortical bone plate is thin or absent, curettes may be used to expose the apex of the root. Further bone removal should be carried out with a bur in a reverse-air handpiece, cooled by copious sterile saline or sterile water. Steel or tungsten carbide burs produce less heat than diamond burs.

The superficial osteotomy should be performed with a light shaving motion to reduce the heat generated and allow adequate visibility. Sufficient bone is removed to allow adequate access to the root end. A bony lid technique has been advocated for mandibular molar teeth.<sup>37</sup>. A microsurgical technique should be used where appropriate.<sup>34</sup>

#### Periradicular curettage

The soft tissue in the periradicular region should be removed with curettes to allow adequate visualisation of the root apex. In some cases it may not be possible to remove all the soft tissue around the root-end until the apex has been resected.

The majority of the inflammatory soft tissue should be removed but the peripheral tissues may be reparative in nature and, if other anatomical structures are likely to be violated, then this tissue should be left.<sup>38</sup> Pathological material should, if possible, be sent for histopathological examination.<sup>39</sup>

#### Root-end resection

Resection of the root should be carried out as close to 90 degrees to the long axis of the tooth as possible to reduce the number of exposed dentinal tubules<sup>40</sup> and to ensure access to all the apical anatomy.

If possible, at least 3mm of root end should be resected with a rotating bur (using saline or water coolant) thus eliminating the majority of anatomical and/or iatrogenic anomalies in the apical third.

The resected root surface should be examined, preferably under magnification with a micro-mirror, to ensure that the resection is complete, that the surface is smooth and that there are no cracks in the root, and to check for canal irregularities.<sup>41,42</sup> The application of a neutral, buffered, sterile dye to the root face may help visualisation of cracks as well as the outline of the root.

#### Root-end preparation

The preparation should be 3mm deep, in the long axis of the tooth and incorporate the whole pulp space morphology. To achieve these objectives root-end preparation is best carried out with an ultrasonically powered tip.<sup>43–47</sup>

In comparison with a bur in a micro-handpiece, the use of ultrasonic tips minimises the amount of bone removed to gain access for root-end preparation, allows a preparation that more readily follows the long axis of the canal, and facilitates debridement of isthmuses. The tips should be used at low power and with a light touch to reduce the risk of root cracking. Rootend preparation should be carried out with sterile saline or water as a coolant.

Consideration should be given to removing the smear layer with EDTA or citric acid, especially if a bur has been used. The root-end cavity should be examined to ensure that the walls are free of debris, including previous root filling materials.

#### Root-end filling

The root-end preparation should be isolated from fluids, including blood. A suitable haemostatic agent should be placed in the bony crypt<sup>30,31</sup>and the root-end cavity dried.

The root-end filling material should be compacted into the cavity with a small plugger to ensure a dense fill. There should be no excess material on the resected root face.

A biologically compatible material should be used where possible. Mineral trioxide aggregate is an osteoand cement-inductive material and is associated with a high clinical success rate.<sup>13,48–54</sup> Of the other materials that have been investigated super EBA, glass ionomer,<sup>55</sup> composite resin (with a dentine bonding agent)<sup>56,57</sup> and reinforced zinc oxide-eugenol are also considered suitable. Amalgam is not recommended.<sup>58-61</sup>

There should be careful debridement of the bony crypt to ensure that haemostatic agents, root-end filling material and debris are removed.

Radiographic verification of the quality of the root end filling is appropriate before wound closure.

#### Closure of the surgical site

The soft tissue flap is re-apposed with sutures, optimum healing being achieved with primary closure. After suturing, the tissues should be compressed with damp gauze for 3–5 minutes. Sutures are removed 48–96 hours post-operatively (providing the wound is stable), when reattachment of the periodontal fibres at the gingival margin has taken place.<sup>62</sup> Sutures left longer than this may become infected by 'wicking',<sup>63</sup> particularly if they are of the multi-filament type. Synthetic monofilament sutures are therefore the preferred choice in order to minimisemicrobial colonisation.

#### Post-surgical considerations

Post-operative complications should be uncommon.

#### Post-operative pain

May be controlled with non-narcotic analgesics.<sup>64–66</sup> A long-acting local anaesthetic given at the end of the procedure may also be beneficial. Long-term pain as a result of surgical damage to the peripheral nerves occurs rarely.

#### Haemorrhage

Must be controlled intra-operatively. Soft tissue bleeding is controlled by haemostatic agents delivered via local anaesthetic, epinephrine pellets, ferric sulphate, electrosurgery and/or with sutures. Bleeding in the bony crypt is also affected by the vasoconstrictor in the local anaesthetic agent and topically applied agents. The latter should be removed from the crypt prior to closure of the surgical site.

#### Post-operative swelling

Minimised by applying cold compresses with an ice pack for the first 4–6 hours after surgery.<sup>66</sup> Chlorhexi-

dine mouthwashes help to prevent plaque accumulation for the period when tooth brushing is less than optimal.<sup>25</sup>

## Ecchymosis

Patients should be informed that bruising may occur, that it is self-limiting and will usually resolve within two weeks of surgery.

# Infection

Infection of the soft tissues may result in secondary haemorrhage, cellulitis or local abscess formation. It is best prevented by maintenance of good oral hygiene measures and the use of chlorhexidine mouthwashes immediately pre-operatively and post-operatively. Antimicrobials should be prescribed where signs of systemic involvement are present with pyrexia and regional lymphadenopathy,<sup>68</sup> in combination with surgical drainage if appropriate.

Clear, written post-operative instructions given to the patient, together with telephone communication within 24 hours avoids misunderstandings and allows further supportive care and advice.

# Outcomes of surgical endodontic intervention

An initial review appointment is required to remove sutures and assess early healing. Thereafter, regular review appointments should be made to assess healing using criteria based upon clinical and radiological examination.

Radiological examination should be conducted at annual intervals until healing is observed.<sup>69,70</sup> Periapical radiographs should be taken, endeavouring to achieve the same angulation as the pre-operative view to allow accurate comparison.

Outcomes may be classed as successful, incomplete, uncertain and unsuccessful. Outcomes must be defined and quantified to enable audit to establish best practice, as there is a shortage of reliable clinical data. A range of 37–91% has been reported for healing following surgical endodontics.<sup>71</sup>

# Successful outcome

# Clinical

This is achieved when the presenting symptoms and signs of the disease associated with the tooth have been eliminated.

## Radiological

The treated tooth should show a normal periodontal ligament width or a slight increase, not wider than twice the normal periodontal ligament space. The periradicular rarefaction should be eliminated and the lamina dura and osseous pattern should be normal. There should be no root resorption evident.<sup>72</sup>

Clinical criteria cannot be used to determine the amount and type of repair histologically. The aim should be to provide an environment that allows regeneration of the cementum and periodontal ligament over the resected root apex. However, in many cases repair of the tissue takes place with the formation of a fibrous tissue scar.

# Incomplete outcome

Clinical There are no signs and symptoms.

#### Radiological

There is partial regeneration of the periapical bone. This may be due to the formation of fibrous scar tissue and is often associated with a through and through lesion where both buccal and lingual cortical plates have been perforated by infection or during the surgical procedure.

#### Uncertain outcome

#### Clinical

There may be vague symptoms, which may include mild discomfort or a feeling of pressure and fullness around the treated tooth.

# Radiological

There is partial regeneration of periapical bone

# Unsuccessful outcome

# Clinical

The presence of signs and/or symptoms of periradicular disease, including root fracture.

#### Radiological

There is no regeneration of periapical bone

Should failure occur after surgery then the cause needs to be established prior to a plan of treatment. Further surgical intervention has been associated with a lower success rate (35.7%).<sup>73</sup>

## Acknowledgements

These guidelines were originally compiled by Professor W Saunders in 2001 and have been revised by Glynis Evans, Karl Bishop and Tara Renton (December 2010).

# References

- Kakehashi S, Stanley HR, Fitzgerald RJ. The effects of surgical exposures of dental pulps in germ-free and conventional laboratory rats. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1965; 20: 340–344.
- Sundqvist G. Bacteriological studies of necrotic dental pulps. Umeå, Sweden: Umeå University Odontological Dissertations; 1976. No 7.
- Moller AJR, Fabricius L, Dahlen G *et al.* Influence on periapical tissues of indigenous oral bacteria and necrotic pulp tissue in monkeys. *Scand J Dent Res* 1981; 89: 475–484.
- Nair PNR. Pathogenesis of apical periodontitis and the causes of endodontic failures. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* 2004; 15: 348–381.
- Friedman S. Treatment outcome and prognosis of endodontic therapy. In: Ørstavik D, Pitt Ford TR eds. *Essential Endodontology*. 2nd edn. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 2008. 426–432.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S *et al.* Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – Part 2: Influence of clinical factors. *Int Endod J* 2008; 41: 6–31.
- Briggs PF, Scott BJ. Evidence-based dentistry: endodontic failure-how should it be managed. *Br Dent J* 1997; 183: 159–164.
- Danin J, Stromberg T, Forsgren T *et al.* Clinical management of nonhealing periradicular pathosis. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 1996; 82: 213–217.

- Rahbaran S, Gilthorpe MS, Harrison SD *et al.* Comparison of clinical outcome of periapical surgery in endodontic and oral surgery units of a teaching hospital: A retrospective study. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Path* 2001; **91:** 700–709.
- Del Fabbro M, Taschieri S, Testori T *et al.* Surgical versus non-surgical endodontic retreatment for periradicular lesions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007; 3: CD005511.
- Torabinejad M, Corr R, Handysideds R, Shabahang S. Outcomes of nonsurgical retreatment and endodontic surgery: a systematic review. *J Endod* 2009; **35:** 930–937.
- Kvist T, Reit C. Results of endodontic retreatment: a randomized clinical study comparing surgical and nonsurgical procedures. *J Endod* 1999; 25: 814–817.
- Saunders WP. A prospective clinical study of periradicular surgery using mineral trioxide aggregate as a root-end filling. *J Endod* 2008; **34:** 660–665.
- Tsesis I, Faivishevsky, Kfir A, Rosen E. Outcome of surgical endodontic treatment performed by a modern technique: a meta-analysis of the literature. *J Endod* 2009; **35:** 1,505–1,511.
- Setzer FC, Shah SB, Kohli MR *et al.* Outcome of endodontic surgery: A meta-analysis of the literature – Part 1: Comparison of traditional root-end surgery and endodontic microsurgery. *J Endod* 2010; **36:** 1,757– 1,765.
- el-Swiah JM, Walker RT. Reasons for apicectomies. A retrospective study.Endod Dent Traumatol 1996; 12: 185– 191.
- Patel S, Dawood A, Ford TP, Whaites E. The potential applications of cone beam computed tomography in the management of endodontic problems. *Int Endod J* 2007; 40: 818–830.
- 18. Guidance Notes for Dental Practitioners on the Safe Use of X-Ray Equipment. Health Protection Agency. http://www.hpa.org.uk/Publications/ Radiation/MiscellaneousRadiationPublications/ rad80miscpubGuidanceNotesforDentalPractitioners/ cited on 5 January 2012.
- HPA-RPD-065 Recommendations for the Design of X-ray Facilities and the Quality Assurance of Dental Cone Beam CT (Computed Tomography) Systems. Health Protection Agency. http://www. hpa.org.uk/web/HPAweb&HPAwebStandard/ HPAweb\_C/1267551246130 cited on 5 January 2012.

- 20. Maintaining Standards (2001). General Dental Council. http://www.gdc-uk.org/Newsandpublications/
  Publications/Publications/MaintainingStandards[1].
  pdf cited on 5 January 2012.
- 21. Standards for Dental Professionals (2005). General Dental Council. http://www.gdc-uk.org/ Newsandpublications/Publications/Publications/ StandardsforDentalProfessionals[1].pdf cited on 5 January 2012.
- 22. Senate of Dental Specialties. Good Practice in the Dental Specialties (2004). London: SDS; 2004 (http://www.rcseng.ac.uk/publications/docs/dental\_ specialities.html cited 5 January 2012).
- 23. Clinical Guideline 64: Antimicrobial prophylaxis against infective endocarditis. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG64 cited 5 January 2012.
- 24. Lindenboom JAH, Frenken JWH, Valkenburg P, van den Akker HP. The role of preoperative prophylactic antibiotic administration in periapical endodontic surgery: a randomized, prospective double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Int Endod J* 2005; **38**: 877–881.
- Löe, H, Schiott CR. The effect of mouthrinses and topical application of chlorhexidine on the development of dental plaque and gingivitis in man. J Period Re, 1970; 5: 79–83.
- 26. Jackson DL, Moore PA, Hargreaves KM. Preoperative nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medication for the prevention of postoperative dental pain. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1989; **11:** 641–647.
- Savage MG, Henry MA. Preoperative nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents: Review of the literature. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2004; **98**: 146–152.
- 28. Department of Health. A Conscious Decision: A review of the use of general anaesthesia and conscious sedation in primary dental care. London: DH; 2000 (www.doh.gov.uk/dental/conscious.htm cited 5 January 2012).
- Gutmann JL. Parameters of achieving quality anesthesia and hemostasis in surgical endodontics. *Anes Pain Control in Dent* 1993; 2: 223–226.
- Witherspoon DE, Gutmann JL. Haemostasis in periradicular surgery. *Int Endod J* 1996; 29: 135–149.
- Kim S, Rethnam S. Hemostasis in endodontic microsurgery. *Dent Clin North Am* 1997; 41: 499–511.

- 32. Pecora G, Andreana S. Use of the dental operating microscope in endodontic surgery. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1993; 75: 751–758.
- 33. Kim S. Principles of endodontic microsurgery. Dent Clin NAm 1997; 41: 499.
- 34. Setzer FC, Meetu RK, Sweta BS *et al.* A meta-analysis of the literature – Part 2: Comparison of Endodontic Microsurgical Techniques with and without the Use of Higher Magnification. *J Endod* 2012; **28:** 1–10.
- Chindia ML, Valderhaug J. Periodontal status following trapezoidal and semilunar flaps in apicectomy. *East Afr Med J* 1995; **72:** 564–567.
- 36. Harrison JW, Jurosky KA. Wound healing in the tissues of the periodontium following periradicular surgery –
  2: The dissectional wound. *J Endod* 1991; 17: 544–552.
- 37. Khoury F, Hensher R. The bony lid approach for the apical root resection of lower molars. *Int J Oral Maxillofacial Surg* 1987; 16: 166–170.
- Lin LM, Gaengler P, Langeland K. Periradicular curettage. *Int Endod J* 1996; 29: 220–227.
- Thompson IO, Phillips VM, Kalan M. Metastatic squamous carcinoma manifesting as a periapical lesion. *J Dent Assoc S Afr* 1992; 47: 481–483.
- Gilheany PA, Figdor D, Tyas MJ. Apical dentin permeability and microleakage associated with root end resection and retrograde filling. *J Endod* 1994; 20: 22–26.
- 41. Hsu YY, Kim S. The resected root surface. The issue of canal isthmuses. *Dent Clin North Am* 1997; **41**: 529–540.
- 42. Wada M, Takase T, Nakanuma K *et al.* Clinical study of refractory apical periodontitis treated by apicectomy

  Part 1: Root canal morphology of resected apex. *Int Endod J* 1998; 31: 53–56.
- Gutmann JL, Saunders WP, Nguyen L *et al.* Ultrasonic root-end preparation – Part 1: SEM analysis. *Int Endod J* 1994; 27: 318–324.
- 44. Min MM, Brown CE Jr, Legan JJ, Kafrawy AH. In vitro evaluation of effects of ultrasonic root-end preparation on resected root surfaces. *J Endod* 1997; **23:** 624–628.
- 45. Waplington M, Lumley PJ, Walmsley AD. Incidence of root face alteration after ultrasonic retrograde cavity preparation. *Oral Surg, Oral Med, Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 1997; 83: 387–392.
- 46. Testori T, Capelli M, Milani S, Weinstein RL. Success and failure in periradicular surgery: a longitudinal retrospective analysis. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 1999; 87: 493–498.

- von Arx T, Walker WA. Microsurgical instruments for root-end cavity preparation following apicoectomy: a literature review. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 2000; 16: 47–62.
- Torabinejad M, Hong CU, Lee SJ *et al.* Investigation of mineral trioxide aggregate for root-end filling in dogs. *J Endod* 1995; 21: 603–608.
- Torabinejad M, Hong CU, McDonald F, Pitt Ford TR. Physical and chemical properties of a new root-end filling material. *J Endod* 1995; 21: 349–353.
- Torabinejad M, Hong CU, Pitt Ford TR, Kettering JD. Cytotoxicity of four root end filling materials. *J Endod* 1995; **21:** 489–492.
- 51. Torabinejad M, Rastegar AF, Kettering JD, Pitt Ford TR. Bacterial leakage of mineral trioxide aggregate as a root-end filling material. *J Endod* 1995; **21:** 109–112.
- 52. Torabinejad M, Pitt Ford TR, McKendry DJ *et al.* Histologic assessment of mineral trioxide aggregate as a root-end filling in monkeys. *J Endod* 1997; 23: 225–228.
- 53. Torabinejad M, Ford TR, Abedi HR *et al.* Tissue reaction to implanted root-end filling materials in the tibia and mandible of guinea pigs. *J Endod* 1998; **24:** 468–471.
- Torabinejad M, Chivian N. Clinical applications of mineral trioxide aggregate. *J Endod* 1999; 25: 197–205.
- 55. Zetterqvist L, Hall G, Holmlund A. Apicectomy: a comparative clinical study of amalgam and glass ionomer cement as apical sealants. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1991; **71:** 489–491.
- Rud J, Rud V, Munksgaard EC. Long-term evaluation of retrograde root filling with dentin-bonded resin composite. *J Endod* 1996; 22: 90–93.
- Rud J, Rud V, Munksgaard EC. Retrograde root filling with dentin-bonded modified resin composite. *J Endod* 1996; 22: 477–480
- Allen RK, Newton CW, Brown CE. A statistical analysis of surgical and nonsurgical endodontic retreatment cases.J Endod 1989; 15: 261–266.
- Dorn SO, Gartner AH. Retrograde filling materials: a retrospective success-failure study of amalgam, EBA and IRM. *J Endod* 1990; 16: 391–393
- 60. Jesslen P, Zetterqvist L, Heimdahl A. Long-term results of amalgam versus glass ionomer cement as apical sealant after apicectomy. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 1995; **79:** 101–103.

- Pantschev A, Carlsson AP, Andersson L. Retrograde root filling with EBA cement or amalgam: A comparative clinical study. *Oral Surg, Oral Med, Oral Pathol* 1994; 78: 101–104.
- Harrison JW, Jurosky KA. Wound healing in the tissues of the periodontium following periradicular surgery – I: The incisional wound. *J Endod* 1991; 17: 425–435.
- 63. Grung B. Healing of gingival mucoperiosteal flaps after marginal incision in apicoectomy procedures. *Int J Oral Surg* 1973; **2:** 20–25.
- 64. Seymour RA, Ward-Booth P, Kelly PJ. Evaluation of different doses of soluble ibuporofen and ibuprofen tablets in postoperative dental pain. *Br J Oral MaxillofacSurg* 1996; **34:** 110–114.
- 65. Ahmad N, Grad HA, Haas DA *et al.* The efficacy of nonopioid analgesics for postoperative dental pain: a meta analysis. *AnesthProg* 1997; **44**: 119–126.
- 66. Mehlisch DR, Sollecito WA, Helfrick JF *et al.* Multicenter clinical trial of ibuprofen and acetaminophen in the treatment of postoperative dental pain. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1990; **121:** 257–263.
- Gutmann JL, Harrison JW. Surgical Endodontics.
   Cambridge, MA: Blackwell Scientific Publications; 1991.
- Freedman A, Horowitz I. Complications after apicoectomy in maxillary premolar and molar teeth. *Int J Oral Maxillofacial Surg* 1999; 28: 192–194.
- Halse A, Molven O, Grung B. Follow up after periapical surgery: the value of the one-year control. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 1991; 7: 246–250.
- Worrall SF. Are postoperative review appointments necessary following uncomplicated minor oral surgery? *Br J Oral MaxillofacSurg* 1996; **34:** 495–499.
- 71. Friedman S. Treatment outcome and prognosis of endodontic therapy. In: Ørstavik D, Pitt Ford TR eds. *Essential Endodontology*. 2nd edn. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 2008. 441–447.
- 72. Rud J, Andreasen JO, Jensen JE. Radiographic criteria for the assessment of healing after endodontic surgery. *Int J Oral Surg* 1972; 1: 195–214.
- Peterson J, Gutmann JL. The outcome of endodontic resurgery: a systematic review. *Int Endod J* 2001; 34: 169–175.

# The Royal College of Surgeons of England

35 – 43 Lincoln's Inn Fields, London WC2A 3PE T (020) 7869 6815 F (020) 7869 6816 E fdseducation@rcseng.ac.uk

# www.rcseng.ac.uk/fds

Registered Charity No. 212808

